FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/25/2020 11:09 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 99062-0 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 79023-4-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

REECE BOWMAN,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> GAVRIEL JACOBS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Respondent below, respectfully requests that this Court review the published decision of the Court of Appeals in State v. Bowman, No. 79023-4-I (September 8, 2020), a copy of which is attached as Appendix A.

B. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

This case asks the Court to consider the extent to which article I, section 7, of the Washington constitution creates a privacy interest in the intangible nature of another person's identity.

Reece Bowman agreed to sell drugs to a person he thought was a customer named Mike Schabell, even though Schabell was sending text messages from a strange number and declined to have a voice conversation. Unbeknownst to Bowman, he had actually been conversing with DHS Agent Marco Dkane. The real Schabell was a confidential informant who had identified Bowman as his drug supplier and given Agent Dkane permission to search his cell phone, which contained evidence Bowman sold methamphetamine. Agent Dkane then arranged a drug sale using his own police-issued phone but identifying himself as Schabell. Bowman was arrested when he arrived to consummate the transaction. The Court of Appeals held that Agent Dkane's ruse violated article I, section 7 of the Washington constitution.

Did Bowman have a privacy interest in Schabell's identity, and, if so, was that interest defeated by Schabell's voluntary cooperation with law enforcement?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

Agent Dkane arrested Schabell during a previous narcotics operation unrelated to Bowman. RP 30. Schabell agreed to cooperate with investigators and identified Bowman as one of his drug suppliers. RP 30-31. Schabell later gave Agent Dkane permission to examine his cellular phone. RP 31. Schabell unlocked his phone for Agent Dkane, and they went through its contents together. RP 31. Agent Dkane found a series of text messages showing that Bowman had sold Schabell methamphetamine. RP 32, 51.

Agent Dkane later sent Bowman a series of text messages in which he posed as Schabell. RP 32; CP 94. Agent Dkane used a separate phone maintained by police specifically for undercover operations. RP 32. "Schabell" explained the strange number by claiming he had recently gotten a new phone. RP 33-34. When Bowman asked "Schabell" to call him, Agent Dkane declined, saying he was "with my old lady." CP 4, 100. Bowman nevertheless continued the text conversation, and Agent Dkane

¹ The following facts are taken from the pre-trial suppression hearing.

arranged to purchase \$500 worth of methamphetamine at a nearby convenience store. RP 34-35. This location was chosen because the real Schabell had purchased drugs from Bowman there earlier. RP 35. The police arrested Bowman when he arrived with approximately 50 grams of methamphetamine. RP 37, 40.

Relying on State v. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d 862, 319 P.3d 9 (2014), and State v. Roden, 179 Wn.2d 893, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014), Bowman argued that Agent Dkane's text conversation and its fruits should be excluded.² RP 89. The trial court denied Bowman's motion to suppress, finding that Agent Dkane's ruse was constitutionally permissible:

...this Court finds that <u>Hinton</u> is distinguishable based on the facts. As the State points out, the differences here, the police [officer] used his own phone and his own phone number to contact Mr. Bowman who actually questioned the caller, "Yeah, what Mike is this? Mike, come on then. Didn't realize who this was." Because it was a new telephone number. Under the facts of this case, the Court does not find that Mr. Bowman's expectation of privacy rights were violated.

RP 98-99.

On appeal, Division One of the Court of Appeals considered whether Agent Dkane had violated Bowman's right to privacy. <u>Bowman</u>,

² <u>Roden</u> was a companion case to <u>Hinton</u> arising out of the same underlying facts. <u>Roden</u>, 179 Wn.2d at 899, n.2. <u>Roden</u> dealt solely with Washington's Privacy Act, while <u>Hinton</u> discussed article I, section 7. <u>Id.</u> Because Bowman did not make any Privacy Act arguments on appeal, it is unnecessary to discuss <u>Roden</u> further.

No. 79023-4 at 1. The court held that Bowman had a cognizable privacy interest in the conversation with Agent Dkane based on his reasonable belief that he was speaking to the real Schabell. The court also found this interest was not defeated by Schabell having allowed Agent Dkane to search the contents of his phone.

The Court of Appeals relied primarily on <u>State v. Hinton</u>, *supra*. The detective in <u>Hinton</u> arrested a man named Lee and seized his cell phone. <u>Hinton</u>, 179 Wn.2d at 865-66. The detective then searched the phone without a warrant or consent and read text messages Lee had received from Hinton. <u>Id.</u> The detective, posing as Lee, responded to the texts and arranged a drug sale with Hinton. <u>Id.</u> This Court ultimately reversed Hinton's conviction for attempted heroin possession, finding that his "private affairs were disturbed by the warrantless search of Lee's cell phone." <u>Id.</u> at 877-78.

D. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court if, *inter alia*, an issue raises a significant question of law under the Washington State constitution or deals with an issue of substantial public interest. Both these criteria are met here.

The extent to which article I, section 7, of the Washington constitution protects a privacy interest in the intangible nature of a

relationship is an issue of great constitutional significance. Older opinions have become difficult to apply in a society dominated by digital communication, and the more recent case of <u>State v. Hinton</u>, *supra*, does not provide guidance in this situation because its reasoning was based on an unlawful seizure. Whether the constitution protects a relationship even when one party is cooperating with law enforcement is an issue with broad implications for the future of policing that should be decided by this Court.

This case also presents a question of significant public interest because it impacts law enforcement's ability to detect criminal activity.

Undercover operations are often necessary to expose crimes such as drug trafficking and child sexual abuse. However, the Court of Appeals essentially disallowed any ruse that implicates the identity of someone known to the suspect. This Court should review any rule of law that significantly restricts law enforcement's investigatory capability, and thus potentially compromises public safety.

1. THE DECISION BELOW RAISES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF STATE CONSTITUTIONAL LAW.

Article I, section 7, of the Washington constitution provides that "[n]o person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law." An alleged violation of article I, section 7,

triggers a two-part analysis. State v. Miles, 160 Wn.2d 236, 243, 156 P.3d 864 (2007). The reviewing court must first determine whether government action intruded upon a "private affair." Id. at 243-44. If the court determines that a protected privacy interest was disturbed, it then asks whether the conduct was justified by the "authority of law." Id. "Private affairs" are defined as "those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant." State v. Myrick, 102 Wn.2d 506, 511, 688 P.2d 151 (1984). "A privacy interest must be reasonable to warrant protection...under article 1, section 7." State v. Goucher, 124 Wn.2d 778, 784, 881 P.2d 210 (1994); State v. Cheatam, 112 Wn. App. 778, 787, 51 P.3d 138 (2002).

The defendant bears the burden of showing that the State intruded upon his private affairs. Service Employees Int'l Union Local 925 v.

Freedom Foundation, 197 Wn. App. 203, 223, 389 P.3d 641 (2016). The trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*. State v. Rankin, 151 Wn.2d 689, 694, 92 P.3d 202 (2004).

Any unchallenged factual findings from a suppression hearing are considered verities on appeal. <u>Cheatam</u>, 112 Wn. App. at 782. There were no disputed facts at the CrR 3.6 suppression hearing in this case, and

Bowman did not assign error to any of the trial court's factual findings on appeal. CP 96; <u>Bowman</u>, No. 79023-4 at 5.

This case asks the court to determine under what circumstances a person's name can be used by law enforcement. It is undisputed that Agent Dkane's conversation would have been admissible had he assumed an identity previously unknown to Bowman. State v. Goucher, 124 Wn.2d 778, 783, 881 P.2d 210 (1994). Thus, the issue becomes whether Bowman had a constitutional right to be conversing only with the real Mike Schabell given their acquaintanceship.

State v. Hinton answered this question where the conversation flowed from the unlawful search, seizure, and use of the impersonated individual's phone, which was the fact pattern in that case. 179 Wn.2d at 873 ("Hinton retained a privacy interest in the text messages he sent, which were delivered to Lee's phone but never received by Lee."). But no Washington opinion has considered whether a privacy interest exists in another's identity when: (1) a person voluntarily provided their device to law enforcement knowing it would be used for a criminal investigation; and (2) a detective then used their *own* phone to contact the defendant.

<u>Hinton</u> had a relatively narrow inquiry: "whether an individual has a privacy interest in the actual text messages received by and stored on another individual's phone." <u>Id.</u> at 878 (Johnson, J., concurring). The

Court of Appeals greatly expanded <u>Hinton</u> by creating a privacy interest in Bowman's relationship with Schabell that was inviolable even if Schabell consented to his name being used to contact Bowman.³ <u>Bowman</u>, No. 79023-4 at 8. This rule is contrary to <u>Hinton</u>, which suggested the outcome of that case might have been different had the phone's owner consented to the detective's conduct. <u>See Hinton</u> 179 Wn.2d at 874 ("Hinton certainly assumed the risk that Lee would betray him to the police, but Lee did not consent to the officer's conduct."); <u>see id.</u> at 879 ("...while there may be a risk that the person to whom we impart private information could disclose it, we do not assume the risk that the government will conduct a warrantless intrusion into a person's private affairs.") (Johnson, J., concurring).

Cell phones are susceptible to warrant requirement exceptions like any other type of evidence. See State v. Samalia, 186 Wn. App. 224, 230, 344 P.3d 722 (2015) (cell phones subject to abandonment doctrine). If Schabell could terminate Bowman's constitutionally protected privacy interest in their relationship by consenting to a recording, see State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 197, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (no constitutionally

³ The Court of Appeals also stated that even if Schabell could consent to being impersonated, he had not sufficiently done so in this case. <u>Bowman</u>, No. 79023-4 at 9. Whatever the merits of this conclusion, the court's primary holding that Schabell was unable to give consent was error that will bind future trial courts, and thus warrants review.

protected privacy interest in a conversation where one party consents to it being recorded), it logically follows that he could end that same privacy interest by allowing Agent Dkane to use information on his phone.

Hinton forbade Agent Dkane from seizing Schabell's phone without a warrant or consent and then using Bowman's text messages on it to further his investigation, as doing so would "tip[] the balance too far in favor of law enforcement at the expense of the right to privacy." Id. at 877. But Hinton did not grant Bowman an interest in Schabell's phone or identity exceeding that of Schabell himself. While the State is not asking this Court to overrule Hinton, it's scope and application to these facts should be assessed in light of Schabell's cooperation and Agent Dkane's use of a different phone.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IMPLICATES AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST.

Creating a protected privacy interest in the identity of cooperating third parties impacts the ability of law enforcement to detect and investigate criminal activity, which is a matter of great public interest. See State v. Thetford, 109 Wn.2d 392, 396, 745 P.2d 496 (1987) (noting the "public interest in the free flow of information for law enforcement"). While this case occurred in the context of the sale of drugs, its holding has much broader implications.

Suppose, for example, that an adult formed a relationship with a 12-year-old girl in an Internet chat room and eventually asked to meet her for sex. Suppose also that the child then contacted police, and a detective obtained consent to use her digital identity to investigate the defendant's behavior. According to <u>Bowman</u>, this would constitute a violation of article I, section 7, as our hypothetical offender believed he was having a private conversation with an actual person.⁴ To give another example, a person who has been offered money to commit murder, a would-be hitman, could not consent to his identity being used to investigate a murder-for-hire plot. Such restrictions are contrary to public policy. <u>See</u> RCW 4.24.790(4)(d) (statute creating civil liability for electronic impersonation does not apply to police officers performing criminal investigations).

⁴ These are not unrealistic scenarios; fact patterns implicating the <u>Bowman</u> rule have occurred frequently in courts nationwide. <u>See State v. Smith</u>, 300 Or. App. 101, 102, 452 P.3d 492 (2019) (offender who offered to "hook up" with young girl contacted police; police then impersonated the girl over text message); <u>Commonwealth v. Cruttenden</u>, 619 Pa. 123, 126, 58 A.3d 95 (Penn. Supreme Court 2012) (drug trafficker allowed police to text accomplice using his cell phone); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 390 P.3d 1212, 1215 (Court of App. of Alaska 2017) (police officer pretended to be juvenile victim while texting with would-be molester); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 2012 WL 335851 (2012 Texas Court of App. Unpublished Decision) (detective and victim's father impersonated victim in text messages to child molester); <u>State v. Abdulle</u>, 193 Wn. App. 1033, 2016 WL 1627660 at *2 (2016 Unpublished Opinion) (detective posed as juvenile sex trafficking victim in text messages); <u>Boyd v. State</u>, 175 So.3d 1, 3 (Miss. Supreme Court 2015) (detective posed as young girl via text after the girl was targeted by sexual predator).

Courts have long recognized that effective law enforcement sometimes requires police officers to conceal their true identity. State v. Hashman, 46 Wn. App. 211, 215-16, 729 P.2d 651 (1986); see also United States v. Marcello, 731 F.2d 1354, 1357 (9th Cir. 1984) ("The informant and the undercover agent must be permitted, within reason, to assume identities that will be convincing to the criminal elements they have to deal with."). It is not plausible that the drafters of the constitution intended to prohibit a victim or informant from voluntarily permitting the police to use their private information to expose criminal activity.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully requests this Court grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

DATED this 25 day of September, 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

GAVRIEL JAQOBS, WSBA #46394

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Attorneys for Petitioner

Office WSBA #91002