FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/26/2020 4:26 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99062-0

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

### REECE BOWMAN,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.

# ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
richard@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washap.org

##

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

### E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's decision in *Hinton*. There is no conflict in the precedent. The Court's straightforward application of *Hinton* to facts that are materially and virtually identical to those in *Hinton* does not merit review.

This Court will grant a petition for review only if (1) the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's precedent; (2) the decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) the issue involves a significant question of constitutional law; or (4) the issue is one of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b).

The decision in this case does not conflict with any precedent from either this Court or the Court of Appeals. The prosecution does not argue otherwise. Thus, the first two grounds for review are not met.

Neither are the third or fourth grounds satisfied. The decision in this case is a straightforward application of <u>Hinton</u>. The factual differences between this case and <u>Hinton</u> are immaterial. <u>Hinton</u> held text communications are a private affair which is invaded by law enforcement when they use text messages to impersonate a known associate. 179 Wn.2d at 865, 875. That the detective in <u>Hinton</u> used the same phone and phone number, which had received text messages, to intrude on the text conversation, a private affair, is immaterial to this holding. Mike Schabell was a known associate to Mr. Bowman, not a stranger. Therefore, <u>Hinton</u> controls. 179 Wn.2d at 876-77.

This Court in <u>Hinton</u> already decided the significant constitutional question regarding whether law enforcement invades a private affair by impersonating a person's known associate via text messages. The application of this holding to different facts does merit this Court's review.

The prosecution reframes the issue as whether Mr. Bowman "had a constitutional right to be conversing only with the real Mike Schabell given their acquaintanceship." Pet. for Rev. at 7. That is not the issue. The issue is whether law enforcement intruded upon a private affair, i.e., text communications between Mr. Bowman and Mr. Schabell. Under <u>Hinton</u>, the answer is yes because the officer sent text messages to Mr. Bowman's cell phone impersonating Mr. Schabell, Mr. Bowman's known associate.

Citing to the concurring opinion in Hinton, the prosecution incorrectly argues that the "relatively narrow inquiry" in Hinton was "whether an individual has a privacy interest in the actual text messages received by and stored on another individual's phone." Pet. for Rev. at 7 (quoting Hinton, 179 Wn.2d at 878 (Johnson, J., concurring)). Justice Johnson's concurring opinion was primarily a response to the dissent's contention that the defendant in Hinton lacked "standing" to raise an article I, section 7 claim. See Hinton, 179 Wn.2d at 878 (Johnson, J., concurring) (beginning concurrence by responding to the dissent's criticism of the majority opinion). But the majority opinion authored by Justice Gonzalez garnered five votes, including Justice Johnson's. That majority decision reflects the holding of the Court. The prosecution's representation of Hinton is misleading and its view that the Court of Appeals "greatly expanded Hinton" is incorrect.

Contrary to the prosecution's contention, the Court of Appeals did not create "a privacy interest in Bowman's relationship with Schabell that was inviolable even if Schabell consented to his name being used to contact Bowman." Pet. for Rev. at 8. Rather, all the Court of Appeals held was that the prosecution had not met its burden to prove the consent exception to the warrant requirement. Bowman, 472 P.3d at 336.

The consent exception has three requirements: "(1) the consent must be voluntary, (2) the person consenting must have the authority to consent, and (3) the search must not exceed the scope of the consent."

State v. Thompson, 151 Wn.2d 793, 803, 92 P.3d 228 (2004). Here, the prosecution could not prove the consent exception because the evidence showed only that Mr. Schabell consented to law enforcement examination of his phone. There was no evidence that Mr. Schabell consented to impersonation. A person's consent to examine text messages on a phone is not a license to impersonate the person. Thus, the prosecution failed to prove the third requirement. Bowman, 472 P.3d at 336.

The Court of Appeals also recognized that the prosecution had not explained why the second requirement was met. Id. "Schabell was not a party to the subsequent text conversation between the police and Bowman." Id. Thus, the expectation by Mr. Bowman that his text communications with Mr. Schabell would remain free from governmental intrusion was still legitimate. Hinton, 179 Wn.2d at 875 ("one who has a conversation with a known associate through personal text messaging exposes some information but does not expect governmental intrusion"). Contrary to the prosecution's contention, the decision in this case did not hold any consent by Mr. Schabell to impersonate (which did not occur) would have been ineffectual. Neither could the Court of Appeals so hold

because there was no evidence that Mr. Schabell had consented to impersonation in the first place.

Simply because the facts of the case are marginally different than those in <u>Hinton</u> does not mean that there is a significant constitutional question. As explained, the facts are materially indistinguishable from <u>Hinton</u>. There is no significant constitutional question. Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Review is also not warranted because the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In contending otherwise, the prosecution constructs strawmen and a parade of horribles. Pet. for Rev. at 9-10. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case does not "create[e] a protected privacy interest in the identity of cooperating third parties." Pet. for Rev. at 9. It does not hold that law enforcement may not obtain the aid of the citizenry in combating crime. Neither does it prevent our citizens from cooperating with law enforcement. All the Court of Appeals recognized was that a person's consent to examine a cell phone is not consent to impersonate the phone's owner.

The Court of Appeals' decision holding that the prosecution had not met its burden to prove consent—which was a theory advanced by the

prosecution for the first time on appeal—is not one of substantial public interest meriting review. The outcome in this case rests on the fact that the prosecution did not have the consent of the phone's owner to impersonate him. Review should not be granted when the prosecution seeks an advisory opinion based on an alternative set of facts not at issue in this case. See State v. Norby, 122 Wn.2d 258, 269, 858 P.2d 210 (1993) (advisory opinions are disfavored).

The Court of Appeals correctly applied this Court's decision in <a href="Hinton"><u>Hinton</u></a>. The prosecution has not shown that review is warranted. This Court should deny review. If it does so, the issues raised in Mr. Bowman's cross-petition below need not be considered.

# F. IF REVIEW IS GRANTED, THE COURT SHOULD ALSO REVIEW THE ADDITIONAL ISSUES THE COURT OF APPEALS DID NOT REACH.

If the Court grants review, the Court should also grant review on the other issues Mr. Bowman presented on appeal. The Court of Appeals did not address these issues because the Court's ruling that there was a warrantless invasion into Mr. Bowman's private affairs under <u>Hinton</u> was dispositive.

1. By sending unwanted and uninvited text messages to Mr. Bowman's cell phone with the intent to learn information, law enforcement committed a trespassory invasion that violated both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 7.

Under the Fourth Amendment, a search occurs if the government intrudes upon a reasonable expectation of privacy. Carpenter v. United States, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 138 S. Ct. 2206, 2213, 201 L. Ed. 2d 507 (2018); Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 360, 88 S. Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967) (Harlan, J., concurring). Irrespective of the reasonable expectations of privacy test, a search also occurs if the government trespasses upon a constitutionally protected area to obtain information. Florida v. Jardines, 569 U.S. 1, 5, 10-11, 133 S. Ct. 1409, 185 L. Ed. 2d 495 (2013) (bringing drug-sniffing dog to front door of home was a search as it intruded on protected area and its purpose was to learn whether drugs were in home); <u>United States v. Jones</u>, 565 U.S. 400, 407 n.3, 132 S. Ct. 945, 181 L. Ed. 2d 911 (2012) (attaching GPS device to vehicle was a search as it intruded on an effect and its purpose was to learn movements of vehicle); Taylor v. City of Saginaw, 922 F.3d 328, 332-33 (6th Cir. 2019) (use of chalk to mark tires of parked vehicles was a search because it trespassed on the vehicle and its purpose was to learn later if vehicle had not moved).

"[A]rticle I, section 7 of the state constitution 'requires no less' than the Fourth Amendment." <u>State v. Afana</u>, 169 Wn.2d 169, 177, 233

P.3d 879 (2010)) (quoting <u>State v. Patton</u>, 167 Wn.2d 379, 394, 219 P.3d 651 (2009). And the inquiry under article I, section 7 is broader. <u>Hinton</u>, 179 Wn.2d at 868. The relevant inquiry is whether the state unreasonably intrudes into a person's "private affairs." <u>State v. Myrick</u>, 102 Wn.2d 506, 510, 688 P.2d 151 (1984). The focus is on "those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant." Id. at 511.

In this case, law enforcement engaged in a trespassory invasion by sending uninvited text messages impersonating Mr. Schabell to Mr.

Bowman's cell phone. While the trespass was not physical, a trespass may be virtual or electronic. <u>United States v. Ackerman</u>, 831 F.3d 1292, 1307-08 (10th Cir. 2016). In <u>Ackerman</u>, authored by Justice Gorsuch when he was a circuit judge, the federal Court of Appeals for the 10<sup>th</sup> Circuit held the government had conducted a "search" when it opened and examined emails. This was because doing so was a "trespass to chattels" and the purpose was to learn information. Id. As Ackerman recognized, "many

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Restatement (Second) of Torts § 217(b) (1965) ("A trespass to a chattel may be committed by intentionally . . . using or intermeddling with a chattel in the possession of another").

courts have already applied the common law's ancient trespass to chattels doctrine to electronic, not just written, communications." Id. at 1308.<sup>2</sup>

Here, law enforcement committed a trespass to chattels by sending unwanted text messages impersonating Mr. Schabell to Mr. Bowman's cell phone. See id. at 1307-08; Jones v. United States, 168 A.3d 703, 717 n.27 (D.C. 2017) ("numerous courts have held that . . . interference with electronic resources can satisfy the elements of common-law trespass to chattels"); Mey v. Got Warranty, Inc., 193 F. Supp. 3d 641, 646-47 (N.D.W. Va. 2016) (unwanted calls to cell phone qualified as a trespass to chattel); Mey v. Venture Data, LLC, 245 F. Supp. 3d 771, 779-80 (N.D. W. Va. 2017) (same); CompuServe Inc. v. Cyber Promotions, Inc., 962 F. Supp. 1015, 1021 (S.D. Ohio 1997) ("Electronic signals generated and sent by computer have been held to be sufficiently physically tangible to support a trespass cause of action."). The purpose of these text messages was to learn information from Mr. Bowman. Specifically, law enforcement sought to learn whether Mr. Bowman would sell drugs and meet for a sale. Thus, there was a search and an invasion into Mr. Bowman's private affairs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Citing <u>eBay, Inc. v. Bidder's Edge, Inc.</u>, 100 F. Supp. 2d 1058, 1063, 1069-70 (N.D. Cal. 2000); <u>CompuServe Inc. v. Cyber Promotions, Inc.</u>, 962 F. Supp. 1015, 1019, 1027 (S.D. Ohio 1997); <u>Thrifty-Tel, Inc. v. Bezenek</u>, 46 Cal. App. 4th 1559, 1565-67, 54 Cal. Rptr. 2d 468, 472 (1996).

This conclusion is consistent with this Court's recent opinion in <a href="State v. Muhammad">State v. Muhammad</a>, 194 Wn.2d 577, 451 P.3d 1060 (2019). In that case, this Court held that the "pinging" of a defendant's cell phone by law enforcement was an invasion into a private affair and a search.

Muhammad, 194 Wn.2d at 596. The purpose of the pinging was to gain information, specifically the defendant's location. Id. at 587-88.

Similarly, law enforcement sent text messages to Mr. Bowman's cell phone to learn information, specifically whether he would meet up and sell drugs. The text messages interfered with the use of his cell phone and placed data onto his phone.

Moreover, while people invite others to contact them via their cell phone, there is no customary invitation for strangers to impersonate others when doing so. Cf. Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8-9 (while law enforcement had an implied license to walk to the door and knock due to custom, they had no customary invitation to bring a trained police dog to the area in the hopes of finding incriminating evidence). Indeed, the actions by law enforcement in impersonating a person via text message would have likely have been tortious and possibly criminal if done by a private party.

Washington recognizes common law privacy torts, including the tort of intrusion upon seclusion. Youker v. Douglas Cty., 178 Wn. App. 793, 797, 327 P.3d 1243 (2014); Restatement (Second) of Torts § 652B (1977).

Beyond the common law, the legislature has forbidden persons conducting business in Washington from sending electronic commercial text messages to the cell phones of Washington residents. RCW 19.190.060(1). The legislature has created a civil action for electronic impersonation. RCW 4.24.790. Impersonation can be a crime. RCW 9A.60.40 (criminal impersonation in the first degree); RCW 9A.60.045 (criminal impersonation in the second degree).

Under a straightforward trespass analysis, this was a search and invasion into a private affair. For this alternative reason, suppression was warranted.

Mr. Bowman presented this alternative theory to the Court of Appeals in his briefing. Br. of App. at 12-15; Reply Br. at 4-6. The Court of Appeals, however, did not address it because reversal was warranted under Hinton. If review is granted, the Court should also review this issue. Otherwise, the Court would have to remand to the Court of Appeals if this Court disagreed on the application of Hinton and reversed. RAP 13.7(b) ("If the Supreme Court reverses a decision of the Court of Appeals that did not consider all of the issues raised which might support that decision, the Supreme Court will either consider and decide those issues or remand the case to the Court of Appeals to decide those issues."). If review is granted, judicial economy weighs in favor of reviewing both issues.

2. The provisions requiring Mr. Bowman pay supervision fees and that interest accrue on legal financial obligations were erroneously imposed.

If Mr. Bowman's conviction is not reversed due to the unlawful intrusion into his private affairs, Mr. Bowman argues that two provisions in the judgment and sentence related to legal financial obligations should be stricken or reformed. Br. of App. at 16-17.

First, the judgment improperly imposes interest on legal financial obligations. CP 110. This is erroneous because interest does not accrue on nonrestitution legal financial obligations. State v. Ramirez, 191 Wn.2d 732, 747-50, 426 P.3d 714 (2018); State v. Dillon, 12 Wn. App. 133, 153, 456 P.3d 1199 (2020).

Second, a provision requires that Mr. Bowman, as a condition of community custody, pay supervision fees. CP 114. This provision, which is discretionary, was also imposed in error. The trial court found that Mr. Bowman was indigent and otherwise ordered that all nonmandatory fees and interest be waived. RP 433-34. Because the trial court intended to waive the requirement of supervision fees, the requirement was erroneously imposed and should be stricken. Dillon, 12 Wn. App. at 152; State v. Lundstrom, 6 Wn. App. 2d 388, 396 n.3, 429 P.3d 1116 (2018).

For purposes of judicial economy, if the Court grants the State's petition for review, the Court should also grant review of these issues. <u>See</u> RAP 13.7(b).

### **G. CONCLUSION**

Mr. Bowman asks that the Court deny the State's petition for review. If review is granted, the Court should grant review of the additional issues in this cross-petition, which the Court of Appeals did not reach.